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On behalf of Board of Directors of Maldives Pension Administration O�ce (MPAO), it gives me great pleasure 
to present the Annual Report of MPAO for the �nancial year ended 31st December 2015.

The �scal year 2015, during which MPAO celebrated its 6th Anniversary, was yet again another year of signi�-
cant achievements in implementing the Maldives Pension Act (8/2009) and the relevant regulations. The 
Board focused on achieving the vision and implementing the strategic goals of MPAO, and is pleased with 
the clear progress in reaching these strategic goals.

I would like to take this opportunity to acknowledge and express my appreciation for the generous support 
provided by Government Ministries and agencies, state institutions, �nancial institutions, employers and 
other stakeholders in the implementation of the pension system in the Maldives. I also extend this thanks to 
the contributions provided by World Bank Pension and Social Administration Project, which was concluded 
in June 2015.

I thank my fellow Directors for their continued support and valuable contributions. I also take this opportu-
nity to acknowledge and thank Ms. Fareeha Shareef and Mr. Mohamed Fizan, who left the board in 2015, for 
their contributions and services.

The success achieved by MPAO in such a short period is the direct result of the excellent hard work and dedi-
cation of MPAO management and sta� under the strong leadership and guidance of the Chief Executive 
O�cer, Mr. Mohamed Hussain Maniku. On behalf of myself and the Board, I take this opportunity to thank 
them for their strong commitment and dedication towards MPAO.

Looking ahead for 2016, as we pursue the vision and mission of MPAO, the Board would like to assure the 
public that MPAO will continue taking all necessary steps to establish a robust pension system that will deliv-
er good bene�ts to its members, is sustainable and has a high level of integrity. We are certain that with the 
dedication, commitment and vigilance of the excellent management team leading MPAO, we will be able to 
reach our strategic goals and milestones.

Chairperson’s Statement
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January:   Administration fee levied on MRPS members reduced from
  1% to 0.9%

May:  MPAO celebrated its 6th anniversary
  Maldives Finance Forum 2015, was held
  Corporate re-branding of MPAO
  MPAO Contact Centre was established
  MPAO mobile applications were released

August:  Pension Art Contest 2015 was commenced

November: Maldives Institutional Investment Seminar 2015 was held
  Pension Art Exhibition 2015 was held

December: Pension Radio Quiz 2015 was concluded

I am pleased to update on the progress MPAO has made on its 
strategic objectives for the year ended 2015.

The year ended 2015 marked another continued year of good 
developments for MPAO in an operating environment that 
was challenging in some areas. 

Some of the major highlights of 2015 include:

In addition, numerous programs were conducted throughout the year to increase stakeholder awareness on 
the pension schemes. This was accomplished through targeted public awareness programs that included 
public lectures, road shows, regular employer training programs, awareness sessions conducted at schools 
and colleges. To capture a wider audience, television, radio and printed media were also used. In these 
e�orts, MRPS members were encouraged to view their Retirement Savings Account (RSA), which gave a role 
to employees to ensure that their employers full�lled their obligation to collect and pay pension contribu-
tions in a timely manner. 

Necessary steps were also taken to strengthen the enforcement function to ensure compliance to the 
Pension Act and relevant regulations. Legal action was taken against a number of employers who have 
arrears of unpaid contributions with cases �led against them in the Civil Court. Despite many challenges 
faced, a number of planned and ad-hoc inspections were also carried out throughout the year.

Considerable progress was also made in engagement and participation of our key stakeholders, particularly 
Government and State agencies, �nancial institutions, employers and clients. On behalf of MPAO, I thank 
them for their continued support throughout the year. I also extend my gratitude to the contributions of the 
World Bank through the Pension and Social Protection Administration Project, which was concluded at the 
end of June 2015, in the success of this operation. A special thanks goes to the Chairperson and Board for 
their continued guidance and for entrusting me to continue leading MPAO. 

In conclusion, the year 2015 represented major progress for MPAO through the introduction of more 
e�cient business processes, expansion of the membership base and strengthening of internal controls. At 
the core of these achievements remains a dedicated and strong team; I thank their commitment and 
tremendous e�ort in accelerating MPAO towards its strategic goals

Looking ahead, as we head towards our strategic vision, I believe that we will continue to improve and make 
signi�cant contributions towards ensuring social security and wellbeing of the Maldivian people and the 
growth of our economy.

CEO’s Statement
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Directors’ Report 2015

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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The Board of Directors of the Maldives Pension Administration Office 
(MPAO) presents its Annual Report of the MPAO and Pension Fund 
together with the Independent Auditor’s Report, Financial State-
ments and notes for the year ended 31st December 2015. 

Report of the Board of Directors

7



419
public sector employers in MRPS 

Participation of

1343
employers participated in MRPS from

private sector

16,091
Beneficiaries for Basic Pension is

81,922
Total Number of employees in

MRPS is

35,583,270.00
Basic Pension Average Monthly disbursement 

74,321,893.22
average monthly Contribution from MRPS

21,676,521.89
Average Monthly State funded disbursement 

21,676,521.89
Senior Citizen Allowance average disbursement

4,069,972.47
MRPS average monthly disbursement

MPAO
IN NUMBERS
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MPAOat a glance
MPAO is an independent legal entity, established 
on 13th May 2009 pursuant to the Maldives 
Pension Act (8/2009).

MPAO’s mandate, as set out in the Pension Act is 
as follows: 

-Administer Maldives Retirement Pension 
Scheme (MRPS)

-Pay state funded Old age Basic Pension (BP)

-Manage pension funds

-Establish standards, rules and guidelines related 
to the schemes 

-Create public awareness and educate scheme 
participants

Under the Pension Act, MPAO administers two 
pension schemes, namely Maldives Retirement 
Pension Scheme (MRPS) and Old-age Basic 
Pension Scheme (BP). The primary objective of 
MRPS is to ensure individuals save during 
employment to cater for their livelihood in 
retirement and ultimately creating financial 
independence. 

About MPAO
MRPS is a defined contributory pension scheme 
funded from contributions from both employees 
and employers. Presently, the Pension Act man-
dates a contribution of 14% of the pensionable 
wage, comprising of a minimum of 7% each from 
the employee and the employer. The Act however 
allows the employer to make the employee’s 7% 
contribution (or part thereof ) on its own. The Act 
further allows voluntary contributions from both 
employees and employers over and above the 7% 
floor rate. Contributions to the scheme stops at the 
pensionable age of 65 and pensioner may start to 
drawdown on the pension plan at this age.

On the other hand, BP is designed to provide finan-
cial security for individuals who had no access to 
employment based income prior to retirement age. 
BP scheme is a lifelong inflation indexed pension 
benefit, fully funded by the State Budget provided 
to all Maldivian Citizens who have reached the age 
of 65, subject to meeting the eligibility criteria of 
the scheme.

In addition to this, under an MOU with Ministry of 
Finance and Treasury, MPAO was established as the 
central agency for the disbursement of various 
state funded pensions effective from April 2011. In 
February 2014, MPAO was assigned with the 
disbursement of Senior Citizen Allowance, a 
State-funded allowance provided to Maldivians 
above 65 years of age who receive monthly pen-
sion benefits below MVR 5,000.

Profile of Pension
Schemes
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Operational Review
Stakeholder Relations Review
Public Awareness and Educational Programs

During the year 2015, numerous public awareness programs 
were conducted both in Male’ and Atolls for employers and 
employees to educate and increase their knowledge of 
MRPS. As part of the campaign for 2015, 7 targeted informa-
tion sessions were conducted in Male’, which were attended 
by a total of 933 persons. 

MPAO also organized public lectures targeted to mass audi-
ence; 14 such lectures were conducted in the atolls, and 
were attended by 535 persons. 

Specific target group awareness sessions were also conduct-
ed in schools and colleges, where 27 such sessions were held 
at various schools and colleges in Male’ and a total of 3031 
students and teachers participated.

Moreover, about 2,000 MPAO corporate calendars contain-
ing promotional messages on pension schemes were also 
distributed to employers.

Employer Trainings
For support in MRPS participation and 
ensure compliance to Pension Act and 
regulations by employers, training sessions 
were conducted both in Male’ and atolls. A 
total of 32 training sessions were conduct-
ed and 129 persons were trained. Training 
materials were also made available through 
MPAO website.

Road Shows

Three Road Shows were conducted in Male’ 
(on 21st October), Ibrahim Nasir Internation-
al Airport (on 19th November) and Hulhum-
ale’ (on 21st November) to create awareness 
on pension schemes and usage of Retire-
ment Savings Accounts (RSA). In addition to 
these Road Shows, a mini-Road Show was 
conducted in Male’ (on 16th October) as well.

In addition to providing information, 

leaflets on pension schemes were distribut-
ed and registration service for viewing RSA 
details online was provided during the road 
shows.
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by a total of 933 persons. 
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were attended by 535 persons. 

Specific target group awareness sessions were also conduct-
ed in schools and colleges, where 27 such sessions were held 
at various schools and colleges in Male’ and a total of 3031 
students and teachers participated.

Moreover, about 2,000 MPAO corporate calendars contain-
ing promotional messages on pension schemes were also 
distributed to employers.

Employer Trainings
For support in MRPS participation and 
ensure compliance to Pension Act and 
regulations by employers, training sessions 
were conducted both in Male’ and atolls. A 
total of 32 training sessions were conduct-
ed and 129 persons were trained. Training 
materials were also made available through 
MPAO website.

Road Shows

Three Road Shows were conducted in Male’ 
(on 21st October), Ibrahim Nasir Internation-
al Airport (on 19th November) and Hulhum-
ale’ (on 21st November) to create awareness 
on pension schemes and usage of Retire-
ment Savings Accounts (RSA). In addition to 
these Road Shows, a mini-Road Show was 
conducted in Male’ (on 16th October) as well.

In addition to providing information, 

Media

In 2015, general mass media tools such as print, radio and 
television were used to educate and create awareness of the 
pension schemes. 

For mass audience communications, MPAO’s Public Rela-
tions staff appeared on 36 television talk shows and partici-
pated in 14 radio programs. The pension themes selected for 
these shows centered on pension fund and investment 
related issues. In addition, MPAO also conducted a media 
briefing session during the year. 

Printed promotional materials used include posters and 
banners. In this regard, 3,700 leaflets distributed and 13 ban-
ners were used to promote pension related messages. The 
themes focused to provide messages for employees to be 
proactive in seeking their pension rights under the Pension 
Act.

Throughout the year, 39 articles appeared on daily newspa-
pers and online news websites about pension related mat-
ters.

Door to Door visits were conducted during 
official trips to islands throughout the year. 
A total of 241 businesses and companies in 
15 islands were visited. 

During the visits, registration of employers 
was facilitation, non-compliant employers 
were identified and information on pension 
system was provided.

“Pension Radio Quiz 2015” – a quiz contest 
targeted at the general population was 
conducted from 12th August to 23rd Decem-
ber 2015. A total of 13 episodes were broad-
casted during this quiz.

Door to Door Visits

Pension Radio Quiz 2015

leaflets on pension schemes were distribut-
ed and registration service for viewing RSA 
details online was provided during the road 
shows.
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Pension Art Contest & Exhibition

“Pension Art Contest 2015” – an art contest target-
ed at students throughout the country was held 
from 16th August to 4th October 2015. Students 
from 7 schools submitted 72 entries during this 
contest.

Following the art contest, the “Pension Art Exhibi-
tion” was held at the National Art Gallery from 10th 
to 11th November 2015. All the artwork submitted 
during the Pension Art Contest were displayed at 
the exhibition.

Prize winning artworks from the contest were later 
used in promotional materials such as the MPAO 
website, desk calendar for 2016 and other printed 
materials.
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Maldives Finance Forum 2015 was held on 20th May 2015 at Kurumba Maldives Resort. This forum, the fourth 
of its kind since its inauguration in 2012, was organised by MPAO in partnership with Maldives Monetary 
Authority, Capital Market Development Authority, Allied Insurance Company of the Maldives, Housing Devel-
opment Finance Corporation, State Bank of India, Mauritius Commercial Bank, Habib Bank Limited and 
Maldives Stock Exchange. The thematic focus of the forum was “Post-Retirement Income Security and Pension 
Savings”.

The purpose of this event was to provide a nationally acclaimed platform to bring together industry experts, 
business leaders, institutional managers and professionals of diverse experience to deliberate and share 
views to bring to the fore financial market development issues and its relevance to the pension and social 
protection.
 
The event was attended by over 70 participants representing national and global experts from financial, polit-
ical, academic and social sectors. 
 

Events – Maldives Finance Forum 2015
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The Maldives Institutional Investment Seminar 2015 was held on 16th November 2015 at Hotel Jen, Male’. This 
seminar was held in collaboration with Schroders and Mercer, two globally renowned asset and wealth man-
agement firms.

Delivered by established international experts, the seminar brought home interesting insights about the 
business of institutional investment and global asset management.

Events – Institutional Investment Seminar 2015
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Other Events

MPAO also took part in a number of events organised by other governmental and non-governmental organisa-
tions, including Maldives Investment Forum 2015, organised by Ministry of Economic Development and held 
in China, and the Financial Expo 2015, organised by Maldives Monetary Authority (MMA).

MPAO was a co-sponsor of the Maldives Investment Forum 2015 and the Regional Seminar on Regulation and 
Supervision of Investment Funds, conducted by Capital Market Development Authority (CMDA).
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Compliance and
Enforcement 
The Compliance and Enforcement business process 
addresses the need for taking measures to protect 
the rights of the employees and ensure that 
employers are held accountable and made aware of 
their responsibilities. 

On-site Inspections

An important part of compliance is carrying out 
on-site inspections to validate that all employees 
are covered and employers pay contributions 
correctly. MPAO select employers for on-site inspec-
tions based on three approaches; planned, ad hoc 
and complaints-based. Planned inspections are 
carried out on employers selected based on their 
compliant level of the previous year. Ad hoc and 
complaint-based inspections are carried out in 
response to informal and formal complaints 
received by MPAO about employers. The summary 
of inspection visits for the year are as follows.

Legal action
 
As contributory pension scheme was new to 
Maldives, initially employers were given the time 
and flexibility in regularizing pension contributions 
as per Pension Act and regulations. In conformity 
with the procedure for taking action against 
non-compliant employers formulated in 2012, 10 
cases were filed with the Civil Court in 2015 against 
employers that failed to pay outstanding pension 
contributions, and 17 additional cases were sent to 
the Attorney General’s Office in 2015 to be filed at 
the Civil Court.

Office Administration

MPAO’s management is responsible for daily oper-
ations and administration functions under the 
leadership of Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The 
CEO is fully accountable to the Board and ensures 
that the policies and strategies adopted by the 
Board are implemented.

The organizational structure of MPAO comprises of 
4 divisions and 11 departments. The divisions 
include Stakeholder Relations Division, Operations 
Division, Corporate Affairs Division and Asset Man-
agement Division.

In addition, an Investment Compliance and Inter-
nal Audit function exists to oversee investment 
compliance and internal audits, and a CEO’s Bureau 
exists to provide executive support to the CEO and 
secretariat support to the Board. 

In addition, the World Bank funded Pension and 
Social Protection Administration Project (PSPAP)’s 
administrative staff worked in MPAO’s office prem-
ises until the project was concluded at the end of 
June 2015.

Corporate Affairs 
Division

The administrative functions of MPAO reside with 
the Corporate Affairs Division, which include 
budget administration, procurement manage-
ment, human resource management, facility man-
agement and pension benefit disbursement.

Asset Management
Division

The mandate of the Asset Management Division 
includes managing all investment related activities 
of the pension fund, including daily fund valuation 
and unit price determination. Additionally, this 
division also ensures proper record keeping, report-
ing to regulators on MRPS and liaise with industry 
stakeholders in relation to investments and fund 
management.

Stakeholder Relations 
Division

The main functions of the Stakeholder Relations 
Division is conducting public awareness 
programmes, educating the scheme participants on 
pension schemes and communicating with the 
public. Other functions include facilitating service 
delivery to scheme participants, employers and 
other relevant stakeholders.

Operations Division

The Operations Division consists of Collection and 
Payout Department (CPD), Operational Compliance 
Department (OCD) and IT Department.
 
The CPD is responsible for day to day pension 
scheme administration matters that include regis-
tration of employers, enrollment of employees and 
collection of pension contributions from employers 
on behalf of employees and ensure that pension 
benefits are paid at retirement. 

The OCD ensures employers comply with the 
Pension Act by carrying out planned and ad-hoc 
inspections and taking appropriate action against 
non-compliant employers. 

IT Department is responsible for the aspects of ICT 
hardware and software, security and data process-
ing and storage. 

Pension and Social 
Protection 
Administration Project 

The Pension and Social Protection Administration 
Project (PSPAP) is funded by the World Bank. The 
objective of PSPAP is to support the establishment 
of a new pension authority and strengthening 
capacity in order to effectively implement a new 
pension system and to provide a platform for addi-
tional social protection programs.

The components of the Project are policy and 
capacity building in pensions and creating aware-
ness, and developing a framework and supporting 
disability, health insurance, financing part of the 
government recognition bond of pension accrued 
rights pay-outs and strengthening Public Account-
ing System

Under the pension project in addition to local staff, 
it also engages international consultants from time 
to time. In 2015, Mr. Adrianus Vugs (Disability Insur-
ance Expert) worked as consultants for the project 
on assignments related to MPAO.

The project was concluded at the end of June 2015.

Training and 
Development

MPAO continued to invest in training and develop-
ment of staff to ensure that they have the essential 
skills and knowledge to carry out their duties effec-
tively. In this respect, 19 staff participated in 19 
short training programmes conducted abroad, 18 
staff participated in a training programme 
conducted in-house, 10 staff participated in train-
ings held locally, and 7 staff took part in 4 work-
shops and seminars held locally. The participated 
programmes were in the areas of Information Tech-
nology, customer service, finance, human resources 
and administrative skills.

Financing of 
Maldives Pension 
Administration Office
 
MPAO operations for the year 2015 were financed solely by administration fee levied on MRPS. The total 
income from MRPS administration fee was MVR 38.20 million while a further MVR 3.41 million was received 
as other income, resulting in an aggregate income of MVR 41.62 million. The total expenditure for the year 
2015 stood at MVR 31 million. Over 63% of this expenditure was incurred towards employee remunerations 
and custodian fees paid to the Custodian, Bank of Maldives. 
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Economic and Financial Sector Outlook

Source: MMA Statistical Bulletin, Dec 2015

Based on the reported Quarterly GDP (in real terms) for the year, the first three quarter GDP has grown by 2.8% 
compared to the same results of 2014 indicating the possibility that the GDP growth may fall below the 
expected growth rate of 4.5%. The loss of growth is primarily caused by lower than expected growth rates in 
the Tourism, Communication and Government Administration sector. Tourism which contributes 29% to the 
GDP fell by 5.2% in real terms, during the year affected by lower average stay. Despite increases in actual tour-
ist arrivals, average stay declined to 5.7 nights compared to 6 nights from the previous year. As expected, the 
inflation during the year fell to 1.4% from 2.5% during 2014. 

Towards the end of the year, domestic debt stood at MVR 22 billion from MVR 20 billion in 2014, representing 
a 10% growth in domestic debt. This is an improvement compared to the previous period (2013 to 2014) 
where domestic debt grew by more than 21%. Domestic debt includes treasury bills, treasury bonds and loans 
and advances and compose of 56%, 31% and 14% in the total debt respectively. Taking these factors into the 
government, the central bank decided to slash the interest rate from 9% under a tap system to 4.6% for the 
364 day treasury bills and introduced a 5 year treasury bond with a coupon rate of 5%. 

Source: MMA Statistical Bulletin, Dec 2015

In terms of the government finances, the total revenue of the government (Jan – Nov 2015) reported was MVR 
15.2 billion compared to MVR 13.2 billion for the same period in 2014 -  representing a 15% increase in reve-
nue. The expenditure for the year (Jan – Nov 2015) was MVR 19.5 billion representing a 16% increase in expen-
diture from previous year. This represents a budget deficit of MVR 4.2 billion which is an increase of 19% from 
the budget deficit of the previous year for the same period. The biggest contributor to revenue are the taxes 
which includes GST, TGST, BPT and customs duty while current expenses such as civil servant wages and sala-
ries is the biggest expenditure representing more than 80% of the entire government spending. 
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Source: MMA Statistical Bulletin, Dec 2015

The bank lending improved during the last half of the year, as interest rate which was tapped in June 2014, 
was slashed to 4.60%. Banks and other financial institutions which has been systematically investing in the 
Treasury Bill market focused on their core lending activities. By November 2015, bank loan portfolio stood at 
MVR 16.5 billion, representing a growth of 11% from November 2014. More than 70% of the loan portfolio is 
concentrated into three sectors; Tourism (41%), Commerce (16%) and Construction (14%). Public sector and 
private sector lending have remained at 10.57% and 11.13% respectively throughout the year. 
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During the year, MSE recorded 1.1 million trades totaling to MVR 9.4 million. Compared to the previous year, 
the number of trades executed on the exchange and the volume of the transactions also fell by 67% and 94% 
respectively. During 2015, nearly 95% of all trades executed on MSE were Amaanaa Thakaful Maldives shares, 
which amounts to 73% of the total volume of the exchange. 

In terms of the price performance of companies, except Dhiraagu and Bank of Maldives all shares closed at 
lower prices than its year opening prices.
 
STO recorded the highest share price at MVR 980 per share and its lowest at MVR 400 per share, making it the 
most volatile and highest traded share in the market during the year. Amana Thakaful recorded the lowest 
share price at MVR 6 per share

Stock Market 
Performance

Closing price in 2015 lower than opening price
 in 2015

Closing price in 2015 higher than opening price
in 2015

Range of values share prices have taken during
2015. Where this bar is invisible, it means
 opening price is equal to closing price
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Performance of 
Listed Companies

There are currently six companies listed on 
Maldives stock Exchange representing Telecom-
munication, Transport, Tourism and Financial 
services sector. Based on the earnings report of the 
companies for Q3, the performance of the year on 
average declined compared to the ROE figures for 
2014. This is in line with the trends observed for the 
Quarterly GDP earnings for the figures for the year, 
where the first three quarter GDP has grown by 
2.8% compared to the same results of 2014 and is 
expected to fall short of the 4.5% GDP growth rate 
predicted on official statistics. The profit after tax 
for ATM, STO and MTDC have fallen by 38%, 40% 
and 44% respectively compared to the perfor-
mance up to Q3 results for 2014.
 
As for DHR and BML, the earnings have increased 
by a modest 7% and 3%, significantly lower than 
previous year figures. MTCC produced the best 
performance compared to the same period of the 
previous year. 
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Financial 
Sector 

Developments

During the year important developments took 
place on the regulatory side and in terms of licens-
ing new entities for operation. 

The Government amended the Public Finance Act 
to allow the Government to borrow without the 
approval of the Parliament and to give sovereign 
guarantees for borrowers involved in national proj-
ects. The amendment also included a clause to 
enable Government to further extend financial 
assistance to such parties. These changes are 
expected to improve the speed and flexibility in 
securing finance for large projects such as the 
Male-Hulhumale Bridge and the Ibrahim Nasir 
International Airport development project. During 
the year, the Government announced that it has 
secured a combined amount USD 573 million (MVR 
8.8 billion) in loans for these two projects. It is also 
hoped that SOEs would have easier access to 
cheaper finance either by issuing bonds or by 
acquiring loans by securing sovereign guarantees 
from the Government.

Work on a number of laws and regulations are also 
underway and are currently published for public 
opinion prior to sending to Parliament for approval. 
These include the Maldives Companies Act, Collec-
tive Investment Schemes Bill and Regulations, 
Maldives Trust Bill, Central Securities Depository Bill 
and Regulation on Providing Annuities. It is hoped 

that these bills and regulations would ease current 
restrictions on listing, raising finance from markets 
and resolve issue of foreign ownership of shares 
currently faced. Moreover the trust law is expected 
to make provisions relating to the establishment 
and operation of trusts of all kinds. Currently the 
absence of a trust law means that financial institu-
tions face significant challenges in legally taking 
custody of funds on behalf of clients and the intro-
duction of this law is expected to resolve issues 
surrounding this. The introduction of a law to 
govern the activities of collective investment 
schemes are expected to encourage private 
parties in registering mutual and private equity 
funds and take a greater role in providing long 
term finance for larger projects. The regulation on 
annuities is a much anticipated regulation and is 
expected to facilitate the creation of an annuities 
market in the Maldives as the number of retirees 
increase from the Maldives Retirement Pension 
Scheme (MRPS) in the coming years.

In the banking sector, during 2015 MMA 
announced that it is at the final stages of licensing 
a new international bank to operate in the 
Maldives. The new bank is expected to improve 
lending to key sectors such as tourism and trans-
port and revive projects experiencing difficulties 
in securing finance. In order to help banks to pump 
in extra lending, MMA has also reduced its reserve 
requirement from 20% to 10% during the year and 
further reduced lending rate on Treasury Bills from 
7% to 4.60% as well.
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MRPS
Performance

Source: MPAO

Contribution and 
Payout
During 2015, total pension contributions collected 
amounted to MVR 893.81 million, up from MVR 
809.55 million in 2014, representing an increase of 
10% during the period. In terms of MRPS payout, 
during the year, MVR 48.84 million was paid out as 
benefits to MRPS members from 35.91 million in 
2014 representing a 36% increase for the period. 
The average contribution collected has increased to 
MVR 74.32 million per month from MVR 67.46 
million per month in 2014. During the past three 
years, contributions have on average increased at a 
rate of 8% per annum for the scheme. 

Investment Review

MRPS funds are invested in financial instruments 
specified by the Pension Act and according to the 
principals prescribed by the Investment Committee. 
MRPS funds are managed in-house by the Asset 
Management Division. 

MRPS comprises of funds which invest pension 
contribution in conventional assets and in sharia 
compliant assets. Additionally, MRPS consists of a 
passively managed Recognition Bond fund.  Recog-
nition Bonds are issued by the State, expressed in 
cash terms representing contribution periods of 
public sector employees who joined the MRPS in 
2009 from the old defined benifit pension scheme 
for the public sector employees. 
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Details of MRPS funds

Assets Under Administration (AUM) reached MVR 7.8 
billion during the year, representing a 21% increase 
from the previous year. Excluding the recognition 
bond fund, the AUM reached MVR 4.8 billion marking a 
33% increase from 2014. MRPS Investment Fund which 
also the default fund, invests in conventional asset 
classes such as fixed income, equities and in bank 
deposits. The investments of the Sharia Fund is segre-
gated and invests in assets determined as Sharia-com-
pliant by a relevant Sharia approval body in Maldives. 
During the year, the Investment and Sharia Fund has 
grown by 34% and 48% respectively which represent 
growth from new contributions and investment 
returns. When members of the Investment Fund and 
Sharia Fund retire, their funds are moved to Conserva-

tive Fund and Sharia Conservative Fund which 
typically invests in short term instruments to 
manage liquidity. During the year, Conservative 
Fund grew by 21% which represents inflows 
from Investment Fund from retiring members 
and investment returns. The Sharia Conservative 
fund was created in 2015, with the retirement of 
the first member from the Sharia Fund. 

In terms of the Fund returns, the Investment Fund achieved an investment return of 8.6% compared to the 
9.4% return it achieved in 2014. This performance is a result a series of reduction of 364 day Treasury Bill rates 
and the subsequent reduction in Fixed Deposit rates. 

Source: MPAO

Source: MPAO

Note: This calculation does not take into account the Administration Fee MPAO charge on each fund, (except RB fund) for 
asset management expenses. AMF for 2015 was 0.9% p.a calculated on a monthly basis.

!"#$ !"#%
!"#$"#%&"#'#(%)*+(,-
)))))).(/#-%'#(% 01203435 61673480 609
)))))):;<"&< 074= 6646 039
))))))>#?@A(&%&@()B@(, 615=C4D5 =1370405 29
!@-%$"#%&"#'#(%)*+(,-
))))))E@(-#"/<%&/# ==C48 8334= =89
)))))):;<"&<)E@(-#"/<%&/# 548 5 8559
&'()* +,-$!.-" /,$#%."% !#0

1223(24567384179:6:2(8)(:'6 ;3(41223(4<)*=3 >?)6@3

!"#$%&'()%"*+',(- ./01 ./02 .%3*4, $5(6*%5(6*7+58(
9(:*-+;*(+ <=>/? @=2/? @=//? A=1/?
$B4,54 .=@/? /=</? 0=@/? 0=./?
C8(-*,:4+5:* A=A/? <=//? A=@/? >=2/?
"*68D(5+58(%E8()%F"EG >=1/? >=1/? >=1/? >=>/?

28



In terms of the government finances, the total revenue of the government (Jan – Nov 2015) reported was MVR 
15.2 billion compared to MVR 13.2 billion for the same period in 2014 -  representing a 15% increase in reve-
nue. The expenditure for the year (Jan – Nov 2015) was MVR 19.5 billion representing a 16% increase in expen-
diture from previous year. This represents a budget deficit of MVR 4.2 billion which is an increase of 19% from 
the budget deficit of the previous year for the same period. The biggest contributor to revenue are the taxes 
which includes GST, TGST, BPT and customs duty while current expenses such as civil servant wages and sala-
ries is the biggest expenditure representing more than 80% of the entire government spending. 

Treasury Bill rates first reduced in June 2014 from 
10.78% to 9% and reduced for a second time in 
October 2015 from 9% to 4.60%. The 364 day Trea-
sury bills formed more than 85% of the Fund invest-
ments for the period mentioned above. The Conser-
vative Fund which primarily invests in Treasury Bills 
and Fixed Deposits also experienced a reduction in 
returns from 8% in 2014 to 7.7% in 2015. However, 
the Sharia Fund achieved its highest return since 
inception during the year earning a return of 2.9% 
as the GIA investments yielded better returns 
during the year. The Sharia Conservative Fund was 
established during mid -year and remains at a cash 
accumulation phase to commence investments. At 
the end of the year, the value of funds remained at 
MVR 104,915 for this Fund and is currently used for 
member payout.

Following the reduction of Treasury Bill rates, MPAO 
Board brought changes to the MRPS Strategic Asset 
Allocation (SAA) policy to reduce exposure to Trea-
sury Bill rates fluctuations and lock in investment 
returns for a longer period. Under the new SAA, a 
greater allocation has been given to fixed income 
instruments and new investments during the year 
in Government Treasury bonds has reduced Invest-
ment Fund exposure to Treasury Bills from 85% at 
the beginning of the year to 68% at the end of the 
year. Exposure to long term treasury bonds 
remained at 21% at the end of the end of the year.

For the Sharia Fund, 69% of the fund remains invest-
ed in GIA instruments while 31% is invested in a 
Sukuk investment. Efforts are made to improve the 
returns for this Fund by investing in longer matur-
ities and by negotiating better returns for the funds 
invested. For the Conservative Fund, the new SAA 
prescribes short term investments to manage its 
payout liquidity. At the end of the year, 81% of the 
Fund was invested in Treasury Bills and the remain-
ing in Fixed Deposit investments. 
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Risk Management
&
Internal Audit

The MPAO Board places emphasis on assessment of risks 
facing the institution and MRPS. Particularly, it focuses on 
the value of mainstreaming risk management practices 
and internal controls within business processes. 

To proactively manage risks in a systematic and compre-
hensive manner across the institution, MPAO continues to 
implement organization wide risk management frame-
work during the year ended 2015. Risks are also identified 
in the course of the regular statutory audits, where the 
external audits carried out reviews of the effectiveness of 
the controls put in place in financial and operational 
areas.
 
Moreover, annual inspections carried out by the supervi-
sory authority (CMDA) use a risk based approach and 
assist MPAO in overall risk management and strengthen-
ing internal controls and procedures. The key areas 
assessed by the inspection include investment risks, oper-
ational risks, risk to member data and public awareness 
and support areas. 

MPAO also carried out special internal audits by engaging 
independent internal auditors to get an independent 
review of MPAO and the internal control processes. The 
audit findings in terms of internal controls and risk areas 
are reported to Audit and Risk Management Committee, 
where the recommendations are followed by manage-
ment to strengthen the business processes. During the 
year, the areas reviewed include, contribution collection, 
valuation, investment, benefit disbursement and record-
keeping and accounting. With external appointment 
ending in 2015, the in-house internal audit department 
continued to conduct routine internal audits. In this 
respect, total 05 internal audits related to pension 
payments were completed by the end of year. To 
strengthen the function, staff development was given 
emphasis during the year.   

In keeping with best practices, Internal Audit regularly 
monitors the status of management action plans with 
respect to audit findings in order to ensure completion of 
actions identified. Ad hoc reviews of areas of concern 
identified by management or the Audit Committee are 
also carried out by the audit department.
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Maldives Pension Act (8/2009) provides that the 
MPAO is an independent institution and is over-
seen by Board of Directors. The Board meets regu-
larly throughout the year to consider develop-
ments in terms of MPAO strategy and long term 
objectives and to review operational and business 
performance. In particular, Board deals with mat-
ters reserved to the Board for decision-making, 
such as strategic planning, policy making, invest-
ment approval and budget expenditure.  

The Board of Directors

 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Approach to governance emanates from MPAO’s 
core values. Core values express and define the 
way MPAO shall conduct its business. They show 
the culture MPAO strives to foster within the insti-
tution. In addition, the processes and structures 
adopted by the Board define the division of 
responsibilities and allow the establishment of 
mechanisms for accountability.

In this regard, an important focus of MPAO work is 
to remain transparent within the restrictions of the 
Pension Act, by giving high priority to publicize the 
information as per MPAO’s statutory requirements. 
This enables the scheme participants and other 
stakeholders to make a fair assessment of MPAO 
performance. MPAO strictly adheres to the 
accounting standards and other procedures 
provided under the regulatory bodies. 

In the role of managing pension fund assets in 
accordance with the Pensions Act, investments are 
governed by the Statement of Investment Princi-

Governance 

ples which defines investments that are appropriate 
to meet the objectives of scheme. The governance 
of the fund is further strengthened by third party 
supervision of Capital Market Development Author-
ity (CMDA) and through the oversight responsibili-
ties of the Custodian.

In addition to this, the Board has in place rules of 
procedures to govern the activities of the Board. 

In accordance to the Pension Act, the current board 
structure comprises of eight members, representing 
both Public and Private Sector. 
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Athifa Ali (Chairperson)
Director; International, 
Legal and Regulatory
Dhiraagu

Muznee Mohamed
Senior Manager
Capital Market Development Authority

Zumra Ahmed
Funds Executive
Ministry of Finance and Treasury 

Fathimath Sara 
Assistant Director, 
General Administration & Procurement
National Social Protection Agency (NSPA)

Fareeha Shareef
Managing Director
FJS Consulting Pvt. Ltd

Mohamed Fizan 
Partner
Shah, Hussain & Co. Barristers 
and Attorneys 

Munthazim Ibrahim 
Assistant General Manager
Aasandha Company Limited

Ali Shareef
Director, Finance
Housing Development Corporation

Fathmath Muaza
Business Development Manager, 
Crown Company

Ali Faris Mohamed 
Freelance Accountant & Tax Consultant

-Appointed on 20th August 2009 for a 3 year term 
as the Chairperson of the Board. 
-Reappointed as Chairperson on 20th August 2014, 
for a 3 year term.

-Appointed on 20th February 2014, as a senior 
member from the Securities Market Regulation 
sector. 

-Appointed on 20th February 2014, as a senior 
member from Civil Service representing Ministry of 
Finance and Treasury. 

-Appointed on 29th January 2015, as a senior 
member from Civil Service representing the Social 
Security Sector.

-Appointed on 20th August 2009 to 19th August 2012 
for a 3 year term as a Board member from Private Sector.
-Reappointed on 20th August 2012 for a 3 year term.
-Resigned from the Board on 15th May 2015.
(3 Year term ended on 19th August 2015)

-Appointed on 20th August 2012 for a 3 year term, 
as a Board member from Private Sector. 
-Completed 3 Year term on 19th August 2015

-Appointed on 31st August 2014 for a 3 year term 
as a Board member from Private Sector.

-Appointed on 04th February 2015 for a 3 year 
term as a Board member from Private Sector.

-Appointed on 12th October 2015 for a 3 year term 
as a Board member from Private Sector.

-Appointed on 22th November 2015 for a 3 year 
term as a Board member from Private Sector.

The composition of the Board for the year 2015 was as follows
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The Board Members are appointed by the President of the Republic of Maldives as out-
lined in the Maldives Pension Act. The Chairperson and the four private sector repre-
sentatives are selected by the Selection Committee formed jointly by the Civil Service 
Commission, Ministry of Finance and Treasury, and the Ministry responsible for social 
security which currently is the Ministry of Health. All candidates for Board membership 
are scrutinized by the Capital Market Development Authority (CMDA) for regulatory 
compliance before the appointment among selected candidates. The term of each 
appointed Member is for three years. Members of the Board may be reappointed.

Board Appointments

During the year 2015, the Board met 15 times. The Board meeting attendance was as follows

Board & Board committee meetings attendance

The Board delegates speci�c responsibilities to Board committees, notably, the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee and the Investment Committee. Detailed reports of 
both the committees are provided in the annual report.

In addition, in order to ensure that competitive and fair remuneration and bene�ts are 
provided to MPAO sta� and Board members, and to oversee the nomination and 
appointment of executives to top management level positions, a Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee was established in December 2014.

Board Committees

!"#$"%& !""'()*+&",(*($,"&'-&.''")/ !""'()*+&.''")/"/
0.%""1.&21.%""3 4 5
!-1.#"/&0(6.) 7 5
!86)""&!-1.#"/ 95 95
:8#%.&;1#"/ 95 9<
0.'1#.'1&2.%. 9= 9=
;'1(3.&;,( 95 9=
!8)'1.6(#&>$%.1(# 95 9=
;,(&21.%""3 9= 9?
0.'1#.'1&!8.6. 5 5
;,(&0.%(+&!-1.#"/& < <

33



Uz. Mohamed Fizan, one of the four private sector 
representatives in the Board completed his term 
on 19th August 2015. He was replaced in the Board 
by Ms. Fathmath Muaza, Business Development 
Manager at Crown Company on 11th October 
2015.

Board Succession
The year 2015 marked four major changes in the Board membership. 

MS. Fathimath Sara, Assistant Director at National 
Social Protection Agency was appointed to the 
Board on 29th January 2015 as the representative 
of Ministry of Health in the MPAO Board.

Mr. Ali Shareef, Director Finance at Housing 
Development Corporation was appointed to the 
Board on 04th February 2015 as one of the four 
private sector representatives in the MPAO Board.

Ms. Fareeha Shareef resigned from MPAO Board on 
15th May 2015. Ms. Fareeha completed her �rst 
term of 3 years on 19th August 2012 and she was 
re-appointed for a second term on 20th August 
2012. She was replaced in the Board by Mr. Ali Faris 
Mohamed, a freelance Accountant and Tax Con-
sultant, on 22nd November 2015.

On behalf of all the current and former Board Directors and the management of MPAO, 
we would like to thank Ms. Fareeha Shareef and Uz. Mohamed Fizan for their valuable 
contributions to MPAO. As well, we would like to congratulate the new members, Ms. 
Fathimath Sara, Mr. Ali Shareef, Ms. Fathmath Muaza and Mr. Ali Faris Mohamed who 
have joined MPAO Board. 

34



In their oversight role, the Board is composed 
of diverse skillsets, experience and quali�cation 
to implement the functions of the Board.

In addition to this, to assist in performance of 
their governance duties, since 2012, MPAO con-
ducts a “New Board Member Induction 
Program” for new Board directors. The program 
includes sessions on governance concepts and 
procedures, director’s roles and responsibilities, 
legal and compliance issues and regulators 
roles. It also covers sessions on the details of 
the Board committees directors shall join and 
contribute.

In addition, Board’s learning was also ensured 
through external exposure conferences and 
seminars and other necessary trainings. In this 
respect, two Board Directors participated in a 
short training on Pension Fund strategy held in 
Paris, France which was conducted from 23rd 
to 25th March 2015. Also, two Board Directors 
participated in the World Pension Summit held 
from 10th to 11th September 2015 at The 
Hague, Netherlands. With this year’s theme 
‘Building Better Pensions: Creating Long Term 
Value’ this summit included insightful and edu-
cational presentations, case studies and 
in-depth panel discussions that provided mem-
bers with the information they need along with 
new insights and ideas to improve and inno-
vate pension systems.

Initiatives for Board e�ectiveness

On September 2015 one Board Director took part 
in the Directors Training programme conducted 
by CMDA in association with Institute of Corpo-
rate Directors and Secretariat (ICDS). The training 
was held at Villa College, Male’ and in addition to 
the existing programme content, concepts such 
as The Islamic Bonds (SUKUK) as well as Gender 
sensitization was also highlighted. 

Moreover, two Board Directors participated in a 
study tour held in Singapore from 21st to 24th 
July 2015 in association with Mercer Investments 
of Singapore, and two Board Directors took part in 
the Introduction to Fund Management Seminar 
conducted by Capital Market Development 
Authority which was held in Male’ from 23rd to 
24th November 2015. 
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Pursuant to Pension Act section (9), the investment committee of MPAO deliberates on all matters related to 
the investment of pension assets. This involves the formation of the Statement of Investment Principles (SOIP) 
to govern the investment process and regularly reviewing the investment processes to re�ect the latest 
changes in the investment universe. 

The Investment Committee comprise of three members, with a permanent membership of the Board 
member representing Ministry of Finance and Treasury. The other members are Board members representing 
the Private Sector. The current Chairman of the Committee is Ms. Zumra Ahmed.
 
During the year, Ms. Fareeha Shareef resigned from the Board on 26 May 2015 and Mr. Ahmed Fizan departed 
the Board following the end of his tenure as a board member on 19 August 2015. Ms. Fathmath Muaza and Mr. 
Ali Shareef were appointed to the committee on 23 November 2015

The Investment Committee 

Committee Composition and Appointments

During the year, six investment committee meetings were held. The meetings took place between 25 January 
2016 and 6 December 2016. The attendances of these meetings are as below

The committee deliberated on various avenues to expand and diversify MRPS investments. During the year, 
MMA reduced the interest rates of treasury bills where a significant portion of MRPS funds were invested. 
Given this backdrop, the committee deliberated on ways to sustain the performance of MRPS funds from a 
diversified investment base and to reduce over-reliance on a single class of asset to achieve a higher rate of 
return. Taking this view into account, MRPS Strategic Asset Allocation (SAA) policy was revised, investments 
were diversified into new and long term investments. Further, investment proposals from both public and 
private sector were evaluated for possible investments.

2015 Committee Activity Review

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
REPORT
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Investment Highlights 2015

1. During March, MRPS Strategic Asset Allocation (SAA) policy was revised to allow greater allocation towards 
long term investments. Under the new SAA, allocations for Growth Assets (GA) will be increased and the 
allocation for Cash and Cash Equivalent (CCE) assets would be reduced in the coming five years’ time. Below 
outlines the MRPS strategic asset allocation policy.
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2. The year began with more than 86% of MRPS 
funds locked in investments of one year term. 
The Committee discussed avenues to expand 
MRPS investments into longer maturities as it 
was of view that government the Treasury Bill 
rates at the current levels were high and not 
sustainable in the near term. A proposal by the 
GoM to commence issuing long term bonds 
and a possible subscription to the program 
was discussed at the committee level and 
taken to MPAO Board for a final decision. The 
Board made a decision to invest in the first 
issue of GoM Treasury Bond program and 
review further subscription based on macro-
economic conditions. The first series of the 
bond was subscribed on 13 July 2015, for MVR 
472 million (5 Yr, 5% coupon). Following the 
slashing of Treasury Bill rates during October 
2015, the Board made a decision to invest in a 
further MVR 459 million (6 Yr, 5.10% coupon) 
on 14 December 2015. By the end of the year, 
total value of treasury bonds (with accrued 
interest) remained at MVR 942 million, repre-
senting 20% of MRPS funds.

5. Following the reduction of interest rate, the 
committee was of view that conditions were 
favourable for the private sector firms to 
pursue listing at the Maldives Stock Exchange 
for issuing corporate bonds to raise finance for 
larger projects. MPAO investment manage-
ment team met with a number of public and 
private sector entities to understand the 
financing needs and the difficulties these insti-
tutions faced in raising funds from the market. 
Further, information was also disseminated 
about MRPS investment rules as specified in 
the Pension Act, to potential investors. 

3. During the year, an Investment Advisor from 
Mercer Investment of Singapore was hired by 
MPAO to provide expert input to the develop-
ment of a strategic plan for MRPS investment 
management and to review the current prac-
tices of asset management, risk management 
and performance monitoring related to MRPS 
Funds. A comprehensive training assessment 
was also conducted as part of this project. The 
study conducted by Mercer highlighted 
increasing fixed income and equity invest-
ments of MRPS to achieve better risk adjusted 
returns and suggested recommendations to 
improve the overall performance and liquidity 
of the funds. 

4. A number of equity investment proposals 
from the private sector were also discussed for 
their suitability for MRPS investments. The 
committee was of view that a number of SOEs 
were suitable for equity purchase based on 
historical performance, management and 
reporting quality. As GoM controls majority 
shareholding in many of these SOEs a proposal 
was drawn for submission to GoM, to purchase 
equity stakes in these companies for MRPS.

6. Towards the end of the year, as part of the 6 
month review process of MRPS SAA, the com-
mittee met to discuss possible changes to the 
policy adopted by the beginning of the year. It 
was decided that the current SAA was 
adequate for current practices and it was 
decided there was no need to revise the policy 
during the year. 
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AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE REPORT
Introduction 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee (ARMC) is delegated by Board with the responsibility to provide 
an independent review and supervision of financial reporting, internal controls, risk and internal and external 
audit of MPAO. 

Committee composition
ARMC is comprised of four Board members. At the beginning of 2015, committee consisted of one member, 
Ms. Zumra Ahmed (member representing the Investment Committee), and the remaining members, Mr. 
Munthazim Ibrahim (Chairperson), Mr. Ali Shareef (member), Ms. Fathmath Sara (member) were appointed on 
February 2015. Later in November 2015, Board member Mr. Ali Farish Mohamed was appointed to the com-
mittee as Mr. Ali Shareef left ARMC upon his appointment to the Investment Committee. 

At the end of the 2015, the committee consisted of four members, Mr. Munthazim Ibrahim (Chairperson), Ms. 
Zumra Ahmed, Ms. Fathmath Sara and Mr. Ali Farish Mohamed.

Responsibilities
ARMC is entrusted with the responsibility of overseeing functions in relation to external audit process both 
the conduct and outcome. ARMC is also responsible for reporting the Board in relation to approving the 
terms of engagement and scope of work of external auditor. Additionally, ARMC is required to oversee inter-
nal audit process, systems of internal control and risk management to ensure integrity of financial reporting 
of MPAO.

Committee Meetings 

During the fiscal year 2015 a total of 3 ARMC meetings were held.
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Audit and Risk Management Committee 
Attendance

The highlights of the committee decisions and 
activity reviews are follows:

With new appointments to MPAO Board, on 23rd 
February 2015 the ARMC was reconstituted. 
During its �rst meeting held on 30th March 2015, 
Mr. Munthazim Ibrahim was appointed as the 
Chairperson of the ARMC. It was also decided that 
the appointment of the Chairperson will be for a 
period of one year on a rotation basis. 

In respect of the draft annual report and audited 
�nancial statements for the year ended 31st 
December 2014 by KPMG, after review and discus-
sion, in 30th March 2015, the audit committee 
endorsed and recommended the same to the 
Board for approval. 

At its meeting held in 5th August 2015, ARMC 
reviewed and approved external auditor’s terms of 
engagement and remuneration and endorsed the 
appointment of Ernst &Young as MPAO indepen-
dent auditors for 2015-2017.

The internal audit services of the �rst quarter of 
the year were undertaken by E&Y under an exter-
nal audit engagement. The committee was 
presented with E&Y internal audit reports of key 
�ndings undertaken for the periods, March, June 
and Dec 2014 and Mar 2015. The reports high-
lighted areas of concern in relation to level of risk, 
which were then discussed and where required, 
action plans to address any matters raised were 
agreed with management. 

From August 2015, after discussion with ARMC, 

the internal audit function was undertaken by 
internal audit department (IAD) of MPAO. During 
the period under review, the IAD reported on 
internal audits of Maldives Retirement Pension 
Scheme (MRPS) and state paid other pension 
payment audits. 

Following the review of internal audit reports, 
the ARMC provided necessary guidance to man-
agement on the importance of timely implemen-
tation of the audit recommendations, and direct-
ed the IAD to closely monitor on how improve-
ments are made on these areas. During the 
course of the year, ARMC received updates on 
progress of the implementation of the previous 
audit’s recommendations by IAD.

During the �nancial year 2015, ARMC received 
updates of internal control responsibilities. In this 
regard, ARMC reviewed internal controls mea-
sures for pension payout recommended by IAD. 
Other review activities carried out by ARMC 
include reviewing MPAO operational budget 
expenditure statements for the period January to 
June 2015. 

2015 Committee Activity Review
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REMUNERATION AND 
NOMINATION COMMITTEE
REPORT
Introduction 

The Board of Maldives Pension Administration Office (MPAO) established Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee (RNC) on 2nd December 2014, primarily for the purpose of ensuring that competitive and fair 
remuneration and benefits packages are provided to MPAO staff and Board members. In addition, it would 
also oversee the nomination and appointment of executives to top management level positions at MPAO.

Committee composition

The RNC is comprised of three members, two Board Directors and the Chief Executive Officer (CEO).
At the beginning of 2015, the committee comprised of Board Directors Ms. Zumra Ahmed and Mr. Munthazim 
Ibrahim along with the CEO Mr. Mohamed Hussain Maniku.

In November 2015, Ms. Zumra Ahmed was replaced in the committee by Ms. Fathimath Muaza.

Responsibilities

The RNC is entrusted with the responsibility of ensuring that competitive and fair remuneration and benefits 
packages are provided to MPAO staff and Board members by overseeing and reviewing the over-arching 
objectives, principles and parameters relevant to the remuneration and benefits structures and policies of 
MPAO. It is also responsible for overseeing and reviewing the policies and processes relevant to nomination 
and appointment of executives to top management level positions.

Committee Meetings 
During the year 2015, 3 meetings of the RNC were held. 
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Committee Attendance

* Ms. Zumra Ahmed was replaced by Ms. Fathimath Muaza

The highlights of the RNC decisions and activity 
reviews are follows:

The �rst meeting of the RNC was held on 4th 
March 2015. At this meeting, Ms. Zumra Ahmed 
was appointed as the Committee Chairperson. In 
addition, the committee endorsed the new salary 
increments structure and policy on payment of 
Retention Allowance to MPAO sta�. Both these 
endorsements were subsequently approved by 
the Board. 

The second meeting of the RNC was held on 6th 
May 2015. At this meeting, the committee 
approved Retention Allowance to be provided to 
7 sta� of MPAO.

The third meeting of the RNC was held on 26 
August 2015. At this meeting, the committee 
approved the creation of the post “Director, 
Programmes”, the main responsibilities of the post 
and appointment of a sta� to the post.

2015 Committee Activity Review
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OUTLOOK
Looking forward, 2016 will be another significant 
year for MPAO. Significant progress has been made 
towards introducing of three major schemes to 
enhance MRPS member benefits and provide addi-
tional social security. The three schemes are:

1. Retirement Savings 
Collaterization (RSA) 
Scheme for Homeown-
ership
This scheme is designed to allow members to collat-
eralize their accumulated RSA balances to secure 
home financing loans. Mortgage lenders who 
accepts collateralized RSA balances as security for 
home loans will provide financing for members with 
sufficient RSA balances. One of the challenges of 
securing home financing loans is the inability to pay 
substantial amounts of money as down payment of 
the loan, which is typically 20% of the property 
value for loans issued in Maldives. This scheme is 
expected to address this issue and it is estimated 
that nearly 550 members will be able to secure 
home financing under this scheme in the first year, 
with more members becoming eligible in the 
coming years.

2. Disability Insurance 
Scheme (DIS)
Under this scheme, MPAO will make arrangements 
to cover MRPS members against total and perma-
nent disability occurring while in employment. This 
provides an additional safety-net to MRPS members 
against unexpected losses arising while in employ-
ment. It is hoped that once fully implemented, this 
scheme will provide compensation for loss of 

income and ensure continued contribution 
towards pension for in cases of total and perma-
nent disability. 

3. Introduction of Annu-
ity Products
Retirees of MRPS currently receive their pension as 
drawn-down payments, which will seize once their 
respective RSA balances exhaust. Significant prog-
ress has been made towards introducing annuity 
products for MRPS members through insurance 
companies and it hoped that the required legisla-
tive framework will be put in place during 2016. 
Once introduced, this scheme will ensure contin-
ued pension for life and provide option for 
purchasing members to commute part of their RSA 
balances at the time of retirement.

Additionally a 5 year Strategic Plan will begin 
implementation in 2016, targeted at streamlining 
services and strengthening the institutional gover-
nance. The five main objectives of this Strategic 
Plan are as follows. 

-Stakeholders and interest groups informed and 
educated on Maldives pension system

-Inclusive and expanded MRPS membership cover-
age and contributions

-ICT model aligned for enhanced automation and 
continuous service improvement

-Investment management strengthened

-Good governance, dedicated and productive 
human capital ensured.
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Independent Auditors' Report
To the Shareholders of the Maldives Pension Administration Office

Report on the financial statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives pension Act NO.8 of 2009), which comprise the statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2015 and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes.

Management's responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditors' responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment. including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate for the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion
(ri our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2015, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

~~. "o~O\. .-Q
15 April 2016
Male
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Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act No.8 of 2009)
INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Notes MVR MVR

Income 3 38,199,390 30,944,974

Other income 4 3,408,913 855,181

Salaries and allowances 5 (11,313,391) (9,234,771)

Bank Charges and Custodian Fees 6 (8,206,297) (7,234,546)

Administrative expenses (11,475,951.63) (9,972,354.00)

Net income over expenditure for the year 10,612,664 5,358,484

The accounting policies and notes on pages 6 to 17 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act No.8 of 2009)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Notes MVR MVR

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 7 3,171,042 1,570,423
Intangible assets 8 4,885,056 6,513,408
Prepaid Lease rent 9 24,000,000 12,000,000

32,056,098 20,083,831
Current assets
Prepayment and Other Receivables 10 4,968,350 4,372,452
Cashand balances with banks 11 20,590,516 20,855,382

25,558,866 25,227,834

Total assets 57,614,964 45,311,665

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Accumulated funds 47,999,123 37,386,459

47,999,123 37,386,459

Current liabilities
Accrued Expensesand Other Payables 12 9,615,841 7,925,206

Total equity and liabilities 57,614,964 45,311,665

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these flnanclal
statements.

Signed for and on behalf of the Board by,

Athifa Ali (Chairperson)

Name of the Director

_~~i_~~!~~.~?~~~:9.~C:.~~i!?~r_s_~~_~~~C)

Mohamed Hussain Maniku (CEO)

The accountinq policies and notes on oaces 6 to 17 form an inteqral part 0 the financial statements.

15April 2016
Male'
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Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act NO.8 of 2009)
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED FUNDS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

Balance as at 1 Jan 2014

Gains for the year

Balance as at 31 December 2014

Gains for the year

Balance as at 31 December 2015

Accumulated
Funds
MVR

32,027,975

5,358,484

37,386,459

10,612,664

47,999,123

The accounting policies and notes on pages 6 to 17 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act No.8 of 2009)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

Cash Flows from Operating activities
Net income over expenditure for the year

Non-cash adjustment
Depreciation and amortisation 7.2

Working capital adjustment
Decrease in Prepayments and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
Cash flows from operating activities

Investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Prepayment of lease rent
Net cash flows used in investing activities

7

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 11

2015 2014
MVR MVR

10,612,664 5,358.484

2,608,346 2,524,953

(595,898) (1,558,184)
1,690,635 520,309

14,315,747 6,845,562

(2,580,613) (205,394)
(12,000,000) (12,000,000)
(14,580,613) (12,205,394)

(264,866) (5,359,832)

20,855,382 26,215,214

20,590,516 20,855,382

The accounting policies and notes on pages 6 to 17 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act NO.8 of 2009)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2015

1. Reporting Entity

General
Maldives Pension Administration Office ("MPAO") was formed on 13th May 2009 under Maldives Pension
Act No 8/2009. The registered office is located at Ameenee Magu, Republic of Maldives. MPAO is an
independent legal entity with perpetual successionandwith a separate seal under the Act.

The principal activities of MPAOare;

• Administering the PensionSchemesestablished under the Act.
• Providing the Maldives Retirement Pension.
• Formulating regulations, standards and guidelines to operate the schemes established under the

Act.
• PayingMaldivesOld-Age BasicPensionestablished under the Act.
• Conducting public awareness programmes on the pension schemesestablished under the Act.
• Taking measures considered necessary by the Pension Office in order to discharge its functions

under the Act.

2. Basis of preparation

a) Statement of compliance
The Financial statements have been in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(lFRSsand lASs).

b) Basis of Measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

c) Functional and Presentation Currency
The financial statements are presented in Maldivian Rufiyaa, which is MPAO's functional currency. All
financial information presented in Maldivian Rufiyaa has been rounded to the nearest Rufiyaa.

d) Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods
affected.

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognized in MPAO'sfinancial statements is included in the respective notes.

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a
material adjustment within the next financial year are included in the relevant notes.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
financial statements, and have been applied consistently by MPAO.

3.1 Foreign Currency Transactions

Transactions in currencies other than Maldivian Rufiyaa are translated to Maldivia
exchange rate ruling at the date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities de inated in

~ Ernst & Young
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Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act NO.8 of 2009)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2015

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.1 Foreign Currency Transactions (Continued)

currencies other than Maldivian Rufiyaa are translated to Maldivian Rufiyaa at the exchange rate ruling
at the reporting date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognized in the income
and expenditure statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities, which are measured at historical cost, denominated in currencies
other than Maldivian Rufiyaa, are translated to Maldivian Rufiyaa at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of transactions. Non-monetary assets and liabilities, which are stated at fair value, denominated
in currencies other than Maldivian Rufiyaa, are translated to Maldivian Rufiyaa at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates the values were determined.

3.2 Financial Instruments

(i) Financial Assets (Non-derivative)

MPAOinitially recognizes receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated.

MPAO derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a
transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by MPAO is
recognized as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, MPAOhas a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle
on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

MPAOhas the following financial assets (non-derivative):

• Receivables
• Cashand CashEquivalent

Receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment losses.

Receivablescomprise management fee receivables.

Cashand cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and balance with banks.

(ii) Financial Liabilities (Non-derivative)

MPAO recognizes financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss)
on the trade date at which MPAO becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
MPAOderecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or
expire.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, MPAOhas a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle
on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

MPAO has other payables as non-derivative financial liabilities. This financial liability is recognized
initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initia reco nition
these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective intere ethod.

__.,,-a Ernst & Young
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Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act No.8 of 2009)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2015

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.3 Property, Plant and Equipment

(i) Recognition and Measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self­
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs directly attributable
to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located and capitalized borrowing costs.
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of
that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted
for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing
the pr?ceeds fr~m. disposa.1with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are
recognized net Within other Income in profit or loss.

(ii) Subsequent Costs

The cost of re~lacin.g.apart of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying
amount of the It~m If It ISprobable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow
to MPAO: and Its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the re laced art is
~~~~~~~~~:sd~;~nec~~~~~.Ofthe day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment ar~ recog~zed in

iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable am ..
substituted for cost. less its residual value. ount, which ISthe cost of an asset, or other amount

3-5 years
3-5 years
3 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and resi
adjusted if appropriate. The charge for thed~:'p~:~~~.sare reviewed at each financial year-end and
property, plant and equipment are ready for use. Ion commences from the month on which the

3.4 Intangible Asset

Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a . . .
each part of an item of property, plant and e uistralqht-ltne ba~ls over the estimated useful lives of
patter~ of consumption of the future econo~ic Pb~~~~tsince thl~ m?st closely reflects the expected
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term d t . s em~odled In the asset. Leased assets are
MPAOwill obtain ownership by the end ofth I an their useful ~Ivesunless it is reasonably certain that

e ease erm. Land ISnot depreciated.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Computers and communication equipment
Office equipment
Furniture and fittings

(l) Recognition and Measurement
Intangible assets that are acquired b th .
accumulated amortization and accum~lat:de~I;~i~~~n~a,~~:~~i~; a~~~fUIlives are measured at cost less

- 8 -
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Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act NO.8 of 2009)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2015

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.4 Intangible Asset (Continued)

(ii) Subsequent Expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in
the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognized in profit or losswhen incurred.

(iii) Amortization
Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
intangible assets, other than goodwill, from the date that they are available for use. The estimated
useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Computer Software Over 5 years

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and
adjusted if appropriate.

3.5 Impairment

Ci)Financial Assets

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if
objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and
that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be
estimated reliably.

MPAOconsiders evidence of impairment for receivables at both a specific asset and collective level.
All individually significant receivables are assessed for specific impairment. All individually significant
receivables found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessedfor any impairment that
has been incurred but not yet identified. Receivables that are not individually Significant are collectively
assessedfor impairment by grouping together receivables with similar risk characteristics.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. Losses are recognized in profit or loss and
reflected in an allowance account against receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be
recognized through the unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent event causes the amount of
impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

(ll) Non-financial Assets

The carrying amounts of the MPAO's non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. For intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not
yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGUexceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. An impairment loss is reversed
if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss
had been recognized.

3.6 Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, MPAO has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of eco enefits WI

- 9 - Ernst & Young



Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act NO.8 of 2009)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2015

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.6 Provisions (Continued)

required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash
flows at a tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance cost.

3.7 Income

Government and other grants are recognized only to the extent of the amount received. Income derived
from Management fees has been recognized on an accrual basis.

3.8 Events Occurring After the Reporting Date

The materiality of the events occurring after the reporting date has been considered and appropriate
adjustments and provisions have been made in the financial statements wherever necessary.

4. Determination Of Fair Values

A number of MPAO's accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for
measurement and / or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further
information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to
that asset or liability.

(i) Receivables

The fair value of other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at
the market rate of interest at the reporting date. This fair value is determined for disclosure purposes.

(ii) Financial liabilities (Non-derivative)

Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of
future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.
For finance leases the market rate of interest is determined by reference to similar lease agreements.

5. New Standards and Interpretations

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of
the Company's financial statements are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt these
standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS9 Financial Instruments

IFRS9 replaces the existing guidance in lAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
IFRS9 includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, a new
expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and new general hedge
accounting requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments from lAS 39.

IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early
adoption permitted.

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts



Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act No.8 of 2009)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2015

5. New Standards and Interpretations (Continued)

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts (Continued)

policies for the recognition, measurement, impairment and derecognition of regulatory deferral
accounts.

IFRS14 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue
is recognised. It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including lAS 18 Revenue, lAS 11
Construction Contracts and IFRIC13 Customer Loyalty Programmes.

IFRS 15 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early
adoption permitted.

The following amendments and improvements are not expected to have a significant impact on the
Company's financial statements.

• Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (Amendments to IFRS11).
• Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation (Amendments to lAS

16 and lAS 38)
• Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments to lAS 27).
• Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

(Amendments to IFRS10 and lAS 28).
• Annual Improvements to IFRSs2012-2014 Cycle - various standards.
• Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments to IFRS10, IFRS

12 and lAS 28).
• Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to lAS 1).

- 11 -



Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act NO.8 of 2009)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

3 Income
2015
MVR

2014
MVR

Management fee 38,199,390
38,199,390

30,944,974
30,944,974

Management fee is the income recognised for managing the assets of the Maldives Retirement
Pension Scheme (MRPS).Management fee has recognised on an accrual basis based on the daily
asset value of the MRPSfund at the rate of 0.9% (2014: 1%)per annum.

2015 2014
4 Other income MVR MVR

Fines 384,300 311,800
Reimbursement income 3,024,050 543,381
Miscellaneous income 563

3,408 913 855 181

5 Salaries and allowances
Directors' remuneration 936,791 964,500
Retirement contribution obligations 567,236 499,358
Employee insurance 189,329 27,552
Salaries and wages 9,620,035 7,743,360

11,313,391 9234771

6 Bank Charges and Custodian fees
Bank charges 30,242 33,824
Custodian fees 8,176,055 7,200,723

8,206,297 7,234,546

MPAO is paying custodian fees to Bank of Maldives at the rate 0.20% based on the total
investment standing of Maldives Retirement Pension Schemeas at the end of the year.

-12-



Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act No.8 of 2009)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

7 Property. plant and equipment

Balance
as at

01.01.2015
MVR

7.1 Gross carrying amounts

At cost

Computers and accessories
Furniture and fittings
Office equipment

3,484,594
772,936
463,553

4,721,083

Balance
7.2 Depreciation as at

01.01.2015
At cost MVR

Computers and accessories 2,104,245
Furniture and fittings 745,342
Office equipment 301,073

3,150,660

Net book value 1,570,423

7.3 Property, plant and equipment

Additions

MVR

774,676
19,292

1,786,645
2,580,613

Charge

MVR

680,131
15,765

284,097
979,993

Balance
as at

31.12.2015
MVR

4,259,269
792,228

2,250,198
7,301,695

Balance
as at

31.12.2015
MVR

2,784,376
761,107
585,170

4,130,653

3,171,042

During the financial period, the Company acquired plant and equipment to the aggregate value of
MVR2,580,613/- (2014: MVR205,394/-) .

8 Intangible assets

At cost
Balance 1 January
Balance as at 31 December

Amortisation
Balance 1 January
Arnortlsation for the period
Balance as at 31 December

Net book value

2015
MVR

8,141,760
8,141,760

1,628,352
1,628,352
3,256,704

4,885,056

2014
MVR

8,141,760
8,141,760

1,628,352
1,628,352

6,513,408

-13-



Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act No.S of 2009)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014
9 Prepaid Lease Rent

Prepaid Lease Rent

MVR MVR

24,000,000
24,000,000

12,000,000
12,000,000

MPAO has entered into a lease agreement with State Trading Organisation PLCon 18 August
2014 to lease 8000 square feet (2 Floors) of Umar Shopping Arcade Office complex. As leasee,
MPAO has agreed to pay amount of 24 Million on an installment basis as rent charge for a
period of 25 years effective from the date of completion of construction of building. This
prepayment will be amortized throughout the period of 25 years from the date of occupying the
building.

2015 2014
10 Trade and other receivables MVR MVR

Asset Management FeeReceivable 3,662,514 3,047,767
MRPSReceivable 264,960 264,960
Prepayments 97,274 158,125
Other Receivables 901,600
MRPSFines Receivables 941,600
Accounts Receivable - USD 2,002

4,968,350 4,372,452

11 Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flow

Cash in hand 27,823 47,482
Balanceswith banks 20,562,693 20,807,900

20,590,516 20,855,382

12 Trade and other payables

Accrued expenses 9,437,178 7,688,946
Pension Contribution Payable (228,833)
MRPSPension payouts 165,426 49,137
Payable to MRPS 128,686
Other Payables 13,237 287,270

9,615,841 7,925,206

-14- ___ ..---------
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Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act NO.8 of 2009)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

13 Financial risk management objectives and policies

13.1 Overview

The MPAOhas exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments;

a) Credit risk
b) Liquidity risk
c) Market risk

This note presents information about the MPAO'sexposure to each of the above risks, MPAO's
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and MPAO's management
of capital. Further, quantitative disclosures are included throughout the MPAO's financial
statements.

13.2 Risk management framework
The board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the
MPAO's risk management framework.

The main risks arising from the Company's financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk
and market risk. The policies for managing each of these risks are summarised below.

13.3 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss of MPAO's if a debtor fails to meet its contractual
obligations. The credit risk arises principally from MPAO's receivables from Maldives
Retirement Pension Scheme.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

2015
MVR

2014
MVR

Asset management receivable 3,927,474
3,927,474

3,312,727
3,312,727

The MPAO believes that the unimpaired amounts that are outstanding are still collectible,
basedon historic payment behavior.

-15-



Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act No.8 of 2009)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

13 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

13.3 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that MPAO will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial
asset. MPAO's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure. as far as possible, that it will
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, without incurring
unacceptable lossesor risking damage to MPAO's reputation.

2015 Carrying
amount

0-6 Months

MVR MVR

Accrued expenses and other payables 9,615,841 9,615,841

2014
Accrued expenses and other payables 7,925,206 7,925,206

13.4 Market risk
Market risk relates to the impact of fluctuations in market rates in MPAO's assets and
liabilities or else the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will
fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates
and equity prices.

The primary objective of market risk management is to ensure that the MPAOoptimises that
the risk reward relationship and does not expose to unacceptable losses outside its risk
appetite.

13.5 Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in foreign exchange rates. This represents exposures the Company has due to changes in
the values of current holdings and future cash flow positions denominated in currencies
other than the local currency.

2015 2014
USD USD

Cashand balances with Banks 138,182 33,342

The following exchange rates were applied during the year:

2015
USD

2014
USD

2013
USD

1 US$:MVR
-16- 15.42



Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act No.8 of 2009)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

14
There was no material capital commitments approved or contracted as at the reporting date
and there was no contingent liabilities which require disclosure in the financial statements as at
the date of the financial position.

15 Comparative information
Comparative information of the Financial Statements have been reclassified whenever
necessary to confirm with current years presentation.

Property, plant and equipment As per 2014
financial

statements
MVR

Reclassification Reclassified
amounts

MVR MVR

Cost
Computers and accessories 3,413,537 71,057 3,484,593
Furniture and fittings 660,872 112,064 772,936
Office equipment 409,472 54,082 463,554

4,483,881 237,202 4,721,082

Depreciation
Computers and accessories 1,987,265 116,980 2,104,245
Furniture and fittings 633,278 112,064 745,342
Office equipment 292,915 8,158 301,073

2,913,458 237,202 3,150,660

16 Related Party Transactions

16.1 Transactions with KeyManagement Personnel

The Board of Directors of MPAOare members of the key management personnel. The company
has paid an amount of MVR936,7311- (2014: 964,5001-) as emoluments.

-17 -
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Maldives Pension Administration Office
(Formed under the Maldives Pension Act No.8 of 2009)
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

Administrative expenses
Salaries and allowances
Stationery and Office Requisites
Administrative supplies
Communication
Publication and Announcements
Carriage and Conveyance
Travel, Training and Seminars
Professional Services Fees
FeesRelated to MRPSInvestment
License, Maintenance and Supporting Service Fee
Maintenance and Repair
Grant and Sponsors
Bank Charges and Custodian Fees
Depreciation and Amortization
Miscellaneous Expenses

2015 2014
MVR MVR

11,313,391 9,234,771
206,459 215,110
89,243 60,081

659,997 491,115
194,323 221,064
62,684 10,773

5,246,885 3,721,086
725,612 437.719

4,670 886,810
1,002,300 1,002,300
114,017 70,043
332,413 331,300

8,206,297 7,234,546
2,608,346 2,524,953
229,002

30,995,639 26,441,671
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Independent Auditors' Report
To the members of the Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
(Administrated by Maldives Pension Administration Office)

Report on the financial statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
("MRPS"), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015 and the income
statement, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management's responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors' responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
ow audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain_audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate for the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion onthe effectiveness of the entity's internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made Bymanagement, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
qualified audit opinion.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

In accordance with the Section 25 of the Maldives Pension Act No 8 of 2009, "public service employees" who
have not reached the age of 65 years at the commencement of this Act shall have their Accrued Pension
Rights deposited in their Retirement Savings Accounts in the form of Recognition Bonds from the
Government. As stated in note 12.1,MRPShas recorded an Accrued Pension Rights Receivable amounting to
MVR 2,380,156,835 in 2011 and subsequently adjusted due to the contributions and accrued rights
payments. Accordingly MRPShas recorded a revenue of MVR 2,673,098/- (2014: MVR 2,082,822/-) as a
contribution. Based on the said Accrued Rights, MRPShas recorded an interest income amounting to MVR
186,693,701/-(2014:MVR 178,353,835/-).

We were unable to determine whether the Bonds issued for Accrued Rights recognized initially and
subsequent recognition of Accrued Rights, and interest there on since interest depends on value of
Recognition of bonds. Therefore, we were unable to verify the completeness and accuracy of the interest and
value of the Recognition Bonds.

Partners: AD B Talwatte FCAFCMA W R H Fernando FCA FCMA M P DCooray FCA FCMA H M A Jayesinghe FCAFCMA A P A Gunasekera FCA FCMA
OK Hulangamuwa FCAFCMA LLB (Land) A Herath FCA

ResidentPartners: A H FawzyFCAFCMAFCCA MRengaraiFCAACMA

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited



Qualified opinion
In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in basis for qualified opinion paragraphs, the
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the MRPS as at 31
December 2015, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards.

~~o~
15 April 2016
Male
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Notes MVR MVR

Income

Interest Income 3 504,635,296 433,819,859
Dividend Income 4 26,896,008 25,555,620
Contribution Revenue 5 893,810,159 809,554,917

1,425,341,463 1,268,930,396

Other income 6 810,406 1,356,282

Administrative expenses (89,063,602) (66,787,657)

Net Increase in net asset available for benefits 1,337,088,267 1,203,499,021

The accounting policies and notes on pages 6 to 18 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2015

Notes
2015
MVR

2014
MVR

Assets

Cashand Cashequivalents 8 16,382,669 25,768,900
Other Receivables 9 2,308,184 3,729,464
Financials Assets Held to Maturity 10 4,552,644,287 3,326,479,661
Available-far-sale Investment 11 253,884,960 263,698,668
Recognition Bond 12 3,027,605,254 2,894,359,524

Total assets 7,852,825,354 6,514,036,217

Liabilities

Other Payables
Contribution collection accounts
Total liabilities

13 5,277,910 3,271,053
4,799,795 5,105,781

10,077,705 8,376,834

7,842,747,649 6,505,659,383

7,852,825,354 6,514,036,217

Reserves and Accumulated members balance
Accumulated Members balance

Total reserve & Accumulated members balance & liabilities

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these financial
statements.

Signed for and on behalf of the Board by,

Name of the Director Signature

Athifa Ali (Chairperson)

·.~~~~~~:~~;;·~;;;;:~~~:t~·~).·.···..::..::..:..:~ : : :.: : :..:.:.
The accounting policies and notes on pages 6 to 18 form an integral part of the financial statements.

15 April 2016
Male'
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED FUNDS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

Balance as at 1 Jan 2014

Net increase in net asset available for benefits

Balance as at 1 January 2015

Net increase in net asset available for benefits

Balance as at 31 December 201 5

Accumulated
Members Balance

MVR

5,302,160,362

1,203,499,021

6,505,659,383

1,337,088,267

7,842,747,649

The accounting policies and notes on pages 6 to 18 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

Cash flows from operating activities
Contribution Received to Contribution Collection
Account (CCA)
Amount Received for matured recognition bond
Fine on late contribution
Interest income
Management fee paid
Benefits paid to members

Cash flows from investing activities
Dividend Received
Proceed from maturing of investments
Payments for purchase of investments
Investment in shares
Investment made in Bond
Repayment of principle on Bond
Net cash used in investment activities

Net Increase in cahs and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 8

2015
MVR

2014
MVR

4

891,633,078 799,270,496
56,121,069 43,123,938

810,406 1,356,282
307,083,205 208,165,927
(37,597,825) (30,046,675)
(48,839,643) (35,913,565)

1,169,210,290 985,956,403

26,896,008 25,555,620
3,216,445,764 2,542,506,954
(3,488,440,394) (3,431,845,763)

(125,957,210)
(943,084,403)

9,586,505 8,906,035
(1,178,596,520) (980,834,364)

(9,386,231) 5,122,039
25,768,900 20,646,861
16,382,669 25,768,900

11.1

The accounting policies and notes on pages 6 to 18 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2015

1. Reporting Entity

Maldives Retirement PensionScheme (MRPS)was established under Maldives PensionAct No 8/2009 on
13th May 2009. The registered office is located at Ministry of Finance and Treasury Building, Ameenee
Magu, Male', Republicof Maldives.

The objective of MRPSis to provide a stable retirement income for the parttcipants of the scheme based
on the contributions made and performance of the investments. This forms an important pillar of the
national social protection system. The MRPSis a Defined Contribution Scheme, where the employee and
employer together contribute 14% of the pensionable wage on a monthly basis to the scheme. The
pension payout starts at retirement and pensioners are currently provided with monthly pension benefits
for life expected at the time of retirement. The MRPScommenced in May 2010 with contributions from
Public Sector employees and in May 2011 with Private Sector employees.

The Investment and administration activities of MRPSare managedand administered by Maldives Pension
Administration Office (MPAO)in accordance with the requirements of the Act.

At the end of the financial year MRPS comprised of four sub-funds: Investment Fund, Sharia Fund,
Conservative Fundand Sharia Retirees Fund.

2. Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of Compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSsand lASs).

(b) Basis of Measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except financial instruments
which are measured at fair value if any.

(c) Functional and Presentation Currency
These financial statements are presented in Maldivian Rufiyaa, which is the MRPS'sfunctional currency.
All financial information presented in Maldivian Rufiyaa has been rounded to the nearest Rufiyaa.

(d) Use of Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods
affected.

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognized in the MRPS'sfinancial statements is included in the respective notes.

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a
material adjustment within the next financial year are included in the relevant notes.

- 7 - Chartered AccOtJntants
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2015

3. Significant Accounting Policies.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
financial statements, and have been applied consistently by MRPS.

3.1 Foreign Currency Transactions

Transactions in foreign currency are translated to Maldivian Rufiyaa at the exchange rate ruling at the
date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies are translated to
Maldivian Rufiyaa at the exchange rate ruling at the reporting date. Foreign exchange differences
arising on translation are recognized in the statement of changes in net assets available for benefits.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities, which are measured at historical cost, denominated in foreign
currencies other than Maldivian Rufiyaa, are translated to Maldivian Rufiyaa at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates of transactions. Non-monetary assets and liabilities, which are stated at fair value,
denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Maldivian Rufiyaa at the exchange rates ruling at
the dates the values were determined.

3.2 Financial Instruments

(i) Financial Assets (Non-derivative)

The MRPS initially recognizes receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other
financial assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognized initially
on the trade date at which the MRPSbecomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The MRPSderecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a
transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the MRPS is
recognized as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, the MRPShas a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to
settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The MRPShas the following financial assets (non-derivative):

• Receivables
• Cash and cash equivalents
• Investments held to maturity
• Available for sale financial assets

Receivables

Receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment losses.

Receivablescomprise contribution receivables from members and other receivables.

Cash and cash equivalent

Cashand cash equivalents comprise balances with banks.
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2015

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Held- To-Maturity

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturity that the MRPS has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity, and which are not
designated as at fair value through profit or loss or as available for sale.

Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. A sale
or reclassification of a more than insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments would result in
the reclassification of all held-to-maturity investments as available for sale, and would prevent the
MRPSfrom classifying investment securities as held to maturity for the current and the following two
financial years.

However, sales and reclassifications in any of the following circumstances would not trigger a
reclassification:

• Sales or reclassifications that are so close to maturity that changes in the market rate of
interest would not have a significant effect on the financial asset's fair value

• Sales or reclassifications after the MRPShas collected substantially all of the asset's original
principal

• Sales or reclassifications attributable to non-recurring isolated events beyond the MRPS's
control that could not have been reasonably anticipated.

MRPSpossess investment in Treasury Bills, Investment in Fixed Deposit, Government Treasury Bonds &
Investments in Sukuk classified as held to maturity.

Avai lable-for -sale

The MRPS's investments in equity securities and bond securities are classified as available-for-sale
financial assets. Available-for-sale financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than
impairment losses are recognized in other comprehensive income and presented in the fair value
reserve in equity.

(ii) Financial Liabilities (Non-derivative)

All financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognized
initially on the trade date at which the MRPS becomes a party to the contractual provlslons of the
instrument. The MRPSderecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged
or cancelled or expire.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, the MRPShas a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to
settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The MRPShas other payables and balances in the Contribution Collection account as non-derivative
financial liabilities. Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured
at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2015

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.3 Impairment

(i) Financial Assets (including receivables)

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if
objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and
that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be
estimated reliably.

The MRPSconsiders evidence of impairment for receivables at both a specific asset and collective level.
All individually significant receivables are assessed for specific impairment. All individually significant
receivables found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessedfor any impairment that
has been incurred but not yet identified. Receivablesthat are not individually significant are collectively
assessedfor impairment by grouping together receivables with similar risk characteristics.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. Losses are recognized in profit or loss and
reflected in an allowance account against receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be
recognized through the unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent event causes the amount of
impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

(ii) Available-far-sale financial assets

Impairment losses on available-far-sale financial assets arising through significant or prolonged declines
in fair value are recognized by reclassifying the losses accumulated in the fair value reserve to profit or
loss. The amount reclassified is the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal
repayment and amortization) and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognized
in profit or loss. If the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security subsequently increases
and the increase can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognized, then the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss; otherwise, it is reversed
through OCI.

(iii) Non-financial Assets

The carrying amounts of the MRPS's non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. For intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not
yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair
value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be
tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognized in statement of changes in net assets available for benefits.
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2015

3. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

3.4 Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the MRPShas a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash
flows at a tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance cost.

3.5 Investment Income

Interest income is recognized as it accrues, using the original effective interest rate of the instrument
calculated at the acquisition or origination date. Interest income includes the amortization of any
discount or premium, transaction cost or other differences between the initial carrying amount of an
interest bearing instrument and its amount at maturity calculated on an effective interest rate basis.
Dividend income is recognized in the income statement when the right to receive dividend ISdeclared.

3.6 Contribution Revenue

Contribution revenue from employees and members is recognized when the control and the benefits
from the revenue have transferred to the MRPS. Any un-reconclled contributions are held in
Contribution Collection Account and are not recognized as revenue.

Contribution revenue from accrued rights is recognized when the government issues the recognition
bonds for respective employees.

Revenue from fines on late contribution payments are recognized on accrual basis to the extent that
the amount is recoverable.

3.7 Events Occurring After the Reporting Date

The materiality of the events occurring after the reporting date has been considered and appropriate
adjustments and provislons have been made in the financial statements wherever necessary.

4. Determination of faire values

A number of the MRPS'saccounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for
measurement and / or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further
information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to
that asset or liability.

(i) Receivables
The fair value of receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the
market rate of interest at the reporting date. This fair value is determined for disclosure purposes.

(ii) Financial liabilities (Non-derivative)
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of
future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

(iii) Investment in Equity Securities
The fair value of investments in equity securities in an active market is determined with reference to
their quoted clostnq bid price at the measurement date. The fair value of investments in equity
securities which are not traded in an active market is determined using an appropriate valuation
technique.
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2015

5. New Standards and Interpretations

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of
the Company's financial statements are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt these
standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS9 Financial Instruments

IFRS9 replaces the existing guidance in lAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
IFRS9 includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, a new
expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and new general hedge
accounting requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments from lAS 39.

IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early
adoption permitted.

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

IFRS 14 is an interim standard which provides relief for first time -adopters of IFRSin relation to the
accounting for certain balances that arise from rate-regulated activities ('regulatory deferral
accounts'). The standard permits these entities to continue to apply their previous GAAP accounting
policies for the recognition, measurement, impairment and derecognition of regulatory deferral
accounts.

IFRS14 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue
is recognised. It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including lAS 18 Revenue, lAS 11
Construction Contracts and IFRIC13 Customer Loyalty Programmes.

IFRS 15 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early
adoption permitted.

The following amendments and improvements are not expected to have a Significant impact on the
Company's financial statements.

• Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (Amendments to IFRS11).
• Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation (Amendments to lAS

16 and lAS 38)
• Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments to lAS 27).
• Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

(Amendments to IFRS10 and lAS 28).
• Annual Improvements to IFRSs2012-2014 Cycle - various standards.
• Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments to IFRS10, IFRS

12 and lAS 28).
• Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to lAS 1).

Chartered Accountants
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

Interest Income from Recognition Bonds(note 3.1)
Interest income Treasury bond
Interest income from fixed deposits
Interest income from HDFCbond
Income from Sukuk
Interest income from Treasury Bills

2015 2014
MVR MVR

186,693,701 178,353,835
12,084,402
12,237,124 9,568,260
2,362,426 3,052,759
759,600 126,000

290,498,043 242,719,005
504,635,296 433,819,859

3 Interest Income

3.1 Interest income from Recognition Bonds
Interest on Recognition Bonds is determined with reference to the fixed deposit rate since June
2014 as agreed between Ministry of Finance and MPOA.The deposit rate used for the financial
year was the highest one year deposit rate as at the end of the preceding year.

4 Dividend Income 2015
MVR

2014
MVR

Dividend income from Dhivehi RaajeGulhun PLC 26,896,008 25,555,620

5 Contribution Revenue

Contribution from employers
Contribution from members
Contribution from government on Accrued Rights (Note
5.1)

450,742,056
440,395,004

2,673,098

398,809,541
408,662,554

2,082,822

893,810,159 809,554,917

5.1 During the year, MRPShas recognised a net contribution of MVR 2,673,098/- (2014: MVR
2,082,822/-) for the adjustment of the initial recognition bond amount.

6 Other income 2015 2014
MVR MVR

Fines on late Contribution 810,406 469,472
Reimbursed from MPAO 886,810

810406 1,356,282
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014
7 Administrative expenses MVR MVR

Management fee (note 7.1) 38,199,390 30,944,974
Benefits paid to members 48,839,643 35,842,684
Other expenses 2,024,569

89,063,602 66,787,657

7.1 In accordance with section 6(d) of the Maldivian Pension Act 8/2009, the MPAO is entitled to
charge a fee towards the administration of the scheme from the members. Based on the daily
asset value of the members balance of the MRPS,prior to 2013 the fee was charged only on
the member balances in the Investment Portfolio. The Board of MPAOdecided to levy fee on
the Sharia and Conservative portfolio members effective from January 2013. The fees are
subject to review on annual basis. Management Feesare accounted for on accrual basis at rate
of 1% per annum.

8 Cash and cash equivalents 2015 2014
MVR MVR

I
Balanceswith banks (note 8.1) 16,382,669 25,768,900

8.1 Balanceswith banks

I CashBalance in Contribution Holding Account 16,345,119 25,768,900
CashBalance in Maldives Islamic Bank 37,550

16,382,669 25,768,900

9 Other Receivables

Receivable for Accrued Rights matured during the
year 2,308,184 3,589,960
Other Receivables 139,504

2,308,184 3,729,464

10 Financial Assets Held to Maturity

Treasury Bills 3,264,645,017 3,054,586,605
Fixed Deposits 329,914,867 256,893,056
Investments in Sukuk 15,000,000 15,000,000
Treasury Bonds 943,084,403

4,552,644,287 3,326,4 79,661
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

11 Available-far-sale Investments
2015
MVR

2014
MVR

Investment in HDFC Bond (note 11.1)
Investment in Shares of Dhivehi Raaje Gulhun PLC (note
11.2)

27,927,750
225,957,210

37,741,458
225,957,210

253,884,960 263,698,668

11.1 Investment in HDFC Bond
Balance as at 1 January
Interest accrued during the year
Interest paid during the year
Principal repayment during the year
balance as at 31 December

37,741,458 46,864,834
2,362,425 3,052,759
(2,589,629) (3,270,100)
(9,586,505) _ ___;(~8.:...:,9..:.0.::.:6,..:.0.:..:35~)
27,927,749 37,741,458

The Company has acquired 5,000 bonds of Housing Development Finance Cooperation PLC at MVR
10,000/- each on 10 March 2013, carrying interest of 7.5% per annum. Repayment will take place
in ten semi annual installments commencing from six month after the date of allotment.

11.2 Investment in Shares of Dhivehi Raaje Gulhun PLC

Balance as at 1 January
Additions during the year
Balance as at 31 December

225,957,210

225,957,210

100,000,000
125,957,210
225,957,210

Available-far-sale investments, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are measured
at fair value annually at the close of business on 31 December. For investments traded in active
markets, fair value is determined by reference to Stock Exchange quoted bid prices.

12 Recognition Bond

Accrued Pension Rights Receivable (Note 12.1) 2,176,621,142 2,216,016,969
Interest Receivable on Recognition Bonds (Note 12.2) 850,984,112 678,342,555

3,027,605,254 2,894,359,524

12.1 Accrued Pension Rights Receivable

Balance as at 1 January 2,216,016,969 2,249,904,372
Net Adjustment to contribution from Government on 2,673,098 2,082,822
accrued rlohts
Accrued rights matured during the year (42,068,925) (35,970,225)
Balance as at 31 December 2,176,621,142 2,216,016,969

In accordance with section 25 of the Maldives Pension Act No.8 of 2009, "publics service
employees" who have not reached the age of 65 years at the commencement of this Act shall have
their Accrued Pension Rights deposited in their Retirement Savings Accounts in the form of
Recognition Bonds of the Government. As per the agreement between the MPAO and Ministry of
Finance and Treasury dated 19th September 2011, both parties have agreed to recognise the
Accrued Pension Rights of MVR. 2,380,156,835/- subject to a variation of 5% of the rights.
Accordingly, MRPS has recognised revenue of MVR. 2,380,156,835/- as contribution from the
r,mlPrnmpnt nn Arrn IPri Ppn<:innRinht<:('Ii irtnn thp nprinri pnripri c\ 1<:tf)prpmhpr ?n1 n

(continued)
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

12 Recognition Bond (continued)

Balance as at 1 January
Additions during the year
Paid during the year
Balance as at 31 December

2015 2014
MVR MVR

678,342,555 509,283,363
186,693,701 178,353,835
(14,052,144) (9,294,643)
850,984,112 678,342,555

12.2 Interest Receivable on Recognition Bonds

As per section 25 of the Maldives Pension Act No 8 of 2009, the accrued rights of employees
who were in employment with Government organisations at the time of commencement of this
Act should be protected. In this regard, Ministry of Finance and Treasury (MoFT) issued
recognition bonds to all eligible employees. The face value of the bond and accrued interest
thereon will mature on retirement or on the death of a member.

2015 2014
13 Other Payables MVR MVR

Management fee payable 3,649,331 3,047,766
ExcessCollection from employers 1,477,042 75,045
Accrued rights excesscollection from MOFT 148,242 148,242
Other payables 3,295

5,277,910 3,271,053

14 Contribution Collection Accounts
Contribtuion received into Contribution Collection 896,747,262 812,577,876
Account
Contribtuion transferred to Contribution Holding (891,947,467) (807.472,095)
Account
Balance in Contribution Collection Accoutns 4,799,795 5,105,781

15 Comments

There were no capital commitments approved or contracted as at the reporting date.

16 Contingent Liabilities

Threre were no contingent liabilities which requires disclosure in the financial statements as at
the reporting date.
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

17 Financial Instruments and RiskManagement

17.1 Overview

This note presents information about the MPAO's exposure to each of the above risks,
MPAO'sobjectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and MPAO's
management of capital. Further, quantitative disclosures are included throughout the
MPAO'sfinancial statements.

17.2 Riskmanagement framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the eastablishment and oversight of the
Entities risk rnanaqernentframework.

17.3 Credit Risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The
maximumexposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

31.12.2015 31.12.2014
MVR MVR

Balancewith banks 16,382,669 25,768,900
Other Receivables 2,308,184 3,729,464
FinancialAssetsheld to maturity 4,552,644,287 3,326,479,661
RecognitionBond 3,027,605,254 2,894,359,524

7,598,940,394 6,250,337,549

17.4 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is risk that the Entity will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations
associatedwith its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial
asset. The Entitys approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will
always have suffiicient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, without incurring
unacceptablelossesrisking damangeto Entities reputation.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at the period end:

31 December 2015 Carrying 0-6
Amount Months
MVR MVR

5,277,910 5,277,910
4,799,795 4,799,795

10,077,705 10,077,705

Financial Liabilities (Non-Derivative)

Other payables
Balancein Contribution CollectionAccount
Total

31 December 2014

Financial Liabilities (Non-Derivative)
Other payables
Balancein Contribution CollectionAccount
Total

3,271,053
5,105,781

3,271,053
5,105,781

8,376,834 8,376,834

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur
significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.
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Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

17 Financial Instruments and Risk Management (continued)

17.5 Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and
interest rates will affect the Entity's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within
acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Interest Rate Risk
at the reporting date, the interest rate portfolio of MRPS interesting bearing financial
instruments was:

Variable Rate Instruments
Financial Assets

2015
MVR

2014
MVR

15,000,000 15,000,000

Fixed Rate Instruments
Financial Assets 4,565,572,036 3,349,221,119

18 Comparative Information

The comparative figures of the financial statement have been reclassified to confirm with
current years classifications.

19 Events after the reporting date

No circumstances have arisen since the reporting date which require adjustment to / or
disclosure in the financial statements.

20 Managements Responsibilities

The management fo MRPSis respobsible for the preparation and presentation of these financil
statements.
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